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3. STYLE & MATERIALS

CITY OF LOS ANGELES

HISTORIC-CULTURAL MONUMENT
NOMINATION FORM

Proposed Monument Name:

Other Associated Names:

Street Address: 

Range of Addresses on Property:

Assessor Parcel Number:

/ĚĞŶƟĮĐĂƟŽŶ�ĐŽŶƚ͛Ě͗

Zip: Council District:

Community Name:

Tract: Block: Lot:

Proposed Monument
Property Type: Building Structure Object Site/Open Space Natural

Feature

1. PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION

�ĞƐĐƌŝďĞ�ĂŶǇ�ĂĚĚŝƟŽŶĂů�ƌĞƐŽƵƌĐĞƐ�ůŽĐĂƚĞĚ�ŽŶ�ƚŚĞ�ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ�ƚŽ�ďĞ�ŝŶĐůƵĚĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ŶŽŵŝŶĂƟŽŶ͕�ŚĞƌĞ͗�

Year built: Factual EƐƟŵĂƚĞĚ Threatened?

Architect/Designer: Contractor:  

Original Use: Present Use:

Is the Proposed Monument on its Original Site? Yes UnŬŶŽǁŶ�;ĞǆƉůĂŝŶ�ŝŶ�ƐĞĐƟŽŶ�ϳͿ

2. CONSTRUCTION HISTORY & CURRENT STATUS

EŽ�;ĞǆƉůĂŝŶ�ŝŶ�ƐĞĐƟŽŶ�ϳͿ

Greater Page Temple Church of God in ChristCurrent name of property

Mt. Sinai Missionary Baptist Church, West Adams Methodist Episcopal Church 

2610 S. La Salle Avenue 90018 8

1864 W. Adams Blvd., 2610 S. La Salle Ave. Adams-Normandie

5053020034 Charles Victor Hall 4 FR 1

1913 None

Austin and Brown; Austin and Pennell Richards-Neustadt Construction Company

Church Church

Late Gothic Revival 1.5 Rectangular

Brick Unknown

Brick Stone

Gable Gable, front

Composition shingle Composition shingle

Fixed Vent

Wood Wood

Off-center Corner

Double Plank



CITY OF LOS ANGELES

HISTORIC-CULTURAL MONUMENT
NOMINATION FORM

4. ALTERATION HISTORY

>ŝƐƚ�ĚĂƚĞ�ĂŶĚ�ǁƌŝƚĞ�Ă�ďƌŝĞĨ�ĚĞƐĐƌŝƉƟŽŶ�ŽĨ�ĂŶǇ�ŵĂũŽƌ�ĂůƚĞƌĂƟŽŶƐ�Žƌ�ĂĚĚŝƟŽŶƐ͘�dŚŝƐ�ƐĞĐƟŽŶ�ŵĂǇ�ĂůƐŽ�ďĞ�ĐŽŵƉůĞƚĞĚ�ŽŶ�Ă�ƐĞƉĂƌĂƚĞ�ĚŽĐƵŵĞŶƚ͘�
/ŶĐůƵĚĞ�ĐŽƉŝĞƐ�ŽĨ�ƉĞƌŵŝƚƐ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ŶŽŵŝŶĂƟŽŶ�ƉĂĐŬĞƚ͘�DĂŬĞ�ƐƵƌĞ�ƚŽ�ůŝƐƚ�ĂŶǇ�ŵĂũŽƌ�ĂůƚĞƌĂƟŽŶƐ�ĨŽƌ�ǁŚŝĐŚ�ƚŚĞƌĞ�ĂƌĞ�ŶŽ�ƉĞƌŵŝƚƐ͕�ĂƐ�ǁĞůů͘

5. EXISTING HISTORIC RESOURCE IDENTIFICATION ;ŝĨ�ŬŶŽwn)

^ƵrveǇ�EĂŵĞ;ƐͿ͗

ListĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ��ĂůŝfŽƌŶŝĂ�RegistĞƌ�ŽĨ�,ŝstŽƌŝcĂů�RĞƐŽƵrces

�ĞƚĞƌŵŝŶĞĚ�ĞůŝŐŝďůĞ�ĨŽƌ�ŶĂƟŽŶĂů͕�ƐƚĂƚĞ͕�Žƌ�ůŽĐĂů�ůĂŶĚŵĂƌŬ�
ƐƚĂƚƵƐ�ďǇ�ĂŶ�ŚŝstŽƌŝĐ�rĞƐŽƵrĐĞƐ�ƐƵrveǇ;ƐͿ

ListĞĚ�ŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�EĂƟŽŶĂů�RegistĞƌ�ŽĨ�,ŝstŽƌŝc�WůĂĐĞƐ

&ŽƌŵĂůůǇ�ĚĞƚĞƌŵŝŶĞĚ�ĞůŝŐŝďůĞ�ĨŽƌ�ƚŚĞ�EĂƟŽŶĂů�ĂŶĚͬŽƌ��ĂůŝĨŽƌŶŝĂ�ZĞŐŝƐƚĞƌƐ

>ŽĐĂƚĞĚ�ŝŶ�ĂŶ�,ŝƐƚŽƌŝĐ�WƌĞƐĞƌǀĂƟŽŶ�KǀĞƌůĂǇ��ŽŶĞ�;,WK�Ϳ
�ŽŶƚƌŝďƵƟŶŐ�ĨĞĂƚƵƌĞ

EŽŶͲĐŽŶƚƌŝďƵƟŶŐ�ĨĞĂƚƵƌĞ

KƚŚĞƌ�ŚŝƐƚŽƌŝĐĂů�Žƌ�ĐƵůƚƵƌĂů�ƌĞƐŽƵƌĐĞ�ĚĞƐŝŐŶĂƟŽŶƐ͗

6. APPLICABLE HISTORIC-CULTURAL MONUMENT CRITERIA

1. Is identified with important events of national, state, or local history, or exemplifies significant contributions to the
broad cultural, economic or social history of the nation, state, city or community.

Ϯ. /Ɛ�associated ǁŝƚŚ�the lives of historic personages important to national, state, city, or local history.

ϯ. �ŵďŽĚŝĞƐ�ƚŚĞ�distinctive characteristics of a style, type, period, or method of construction; or represents a notable
work of a master designer, builder, or architect whose individual genius influenced his or her age.

dŚĞ�ƉƌŽƉŽƐĞĚ�ŵŽŶƵŵĞŶƚ�ĞǆĞŵƉůŝĮĞƐ�ƚŚĞ�ĨŽůůŽǁŝŶŐ��ƵůƚƵƌĂů�,ĞƌŝƚĂŐĞ�KƌĚŝŶĂŶĐĞ��ƌŝƚĞƌŝĂ�;^ĞĐƟŽŶ�ϮϮ͘ϭϳϭ͘ϳͿ͗�

See attached list following architectural description.

✔
Normandie 5 Redevelopment Area Survey

✔

✔

✔



8. CONTACT INFORMATION

Name: Company:

Street Address:

Zip: Phone Number:

City: State:

Email:

Applicant

Name: Company:

Street Address:

Zip: Phone Number:

City: State:

Email:

EŽŵŝŶĂƟŽŶ�WƌĞƉĂƌĞƌͬ�ƉƉůŝĐĂŶƚ͛Ɛ�ZĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚĂƟǀĞ

CITY OF LOS ANGELES

HISTORIC-CULTURAL MONUMENT
NOMINATION FORM

7. WRITTEN STATEMENTS

dŚŝƐ�ƐĞĐƟŽŶ�ĂůůŽǁƐ�ǇŽƵ�ƚŽ�ĚŝƐĐƵƐƐ�Ăƚ�ůĞŶŐƚŚ�ƚŚĞ�ƐŝŐŶŝĮĐĂŶĐĞ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ƉƌŽƉŽƐĞĚ�ŵŽŶƵŵĞŶƚ�ĂŶĚ�ǁŚǇ�ŝƚ�ƐŚŽƵůĚ�ďĞ�
ĚĞƐŝŐŶĂƚĞĚ�ĂŶ�,ŝƐƚŽƌŝĐͲ�ƵůƚƵƌĂů�DŽŶƵŵĞŶƚ͘�dǇƉĞ�ǇŽƵƌ�ƌĞƐƉŽŶƐĞ�ŽŶ�ƐĞƉĂƌĂƚĞ�ĚŽĐƵŵĞŶƚƐ�ĂŶĚ�ĂƩaĐŚ�ƚŚĞŵ�ƚŽ�ƚŚŝƐ�
ĨŽƌŵ͘

�͘�WƌŽƉŽƐĞĚ�DŽŶƵŵĞŶƚ��ĞƐĐƌŝƉƟŽŶ�Ͳ��ĞƐĐƌŝďĞ�ƚŚĞ�ƉƌŽƉŽƐĞĚ�ŵŽŶƵŵĞŶƚ Ɛ͛�ƉŚǇƐŝĐĂů�ĐŚĂƌĂĐƚĞƌŝƐƟĐƐ�ĂŶĚ�
ƌĞůĂƟŽŶƐŚŝƉ�ƚŽ�ŝƚƐ�ƐƵƌƌŽƵŶĚŝŶŐ�ĞŶǀŝƌŽŶŵĞŶƚ͘��ǆƉĂŶĚ�ŽŶ�ƐĞĐƟŽŶƐ�Ϯ�ĂŶĚ�ϯ�ǁŝƚŚ�Ă�ŵŽƌĞ�ĚĞƚĂŝůĞĚ�ĚĞƐĐƌŝƉ-
ƟŽŶ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ƐŝƚĞ͘��ǆƉĂŶĚ�ŽŶ�ƐĞĐƟŽŶ�ϰ�ĂŶĚ�ĚŝƐĐƵƐƐ�ƚŚĞ�ĐŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƟŽŶͬĂůƚĞƌĂƟŽŶ�ŚŝƐƚŽƌǇ�ŝŶ�ĚĞƚĂŝů�ŝĨ�ƚŚĂƚ�ŝƐ�
ŶĞĐĞƐƐĂƌǇ�ƚŽ�ĞǆƉůĂŝŶ�ƚŚĞ�ƉƌŽƉŽƐĞĚ�ŵŽŶƵŵĞŶƚ Ɛ͛�ĐƵƌƌĞŶƚ�ĨŽƌŵ͘�/ĚĞŶƟĨǇ�ĂŶĚ�ĚĞƐĐƌŝďĞ�ĂŶǇ�ĐŚĂƌĂĐƚĞƌ-
ĚĞĮŶŝŶŐ�ĞůĞŵĞŶƚƐ͕�ƐƚƌƵĐƚƵƌĞƐ͕�ŝŶƚĞƌŝŽƌ�ƐƉĂĐĞƐ͕�Žƌ�ůĂŶĚƐĐĂƉĞ�ĨĞĂƚƵƌĞƐ͘

�͘�^ƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ�^ŝŐŶŝĮĐĂŶĐĞ�Ͳ��ĚĚƌĞƐƐ�ƚŚĞ�ƉƌŽƉŽƐĞĚ�ŵŽŶƵŵĞŶƚ Ɛ͛�ŚŝƐƚŽƌŝĐ͕�ĐƵůƚƵƌĂů͕�ĂŶĚͬŽƌ�ĂƌĐŚŝƚĞĐ-
ƚƵƌĂů�ƐŝŐŶŝĮĐĂŶĐĞ�ďǇ�ĚŝƐĐƵƐƐŝŶŐ�ŚŽǁ�ŝƚ�ƐĂƟƐĮĞƐ�ƚŚĞ�,�D�ĐƌŝƚĞƌŝĂ�ǇŽƵ�ƐĞůĞĐƚĞĚ�ŝŶ�^ĞĐƟŽŶ�ϲ͘�zŽƵ�ŵƵƐƚ�
ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ�ǇŽƵƌ�ĂƌŐƵŵĞŶƚ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƐƵďƐƚĂŶƟĂů�ĞǀŝĚĞŶĐĞ�ĂŶĚ�ĂŶĂůǇƐŝƐ͘�dŚĞ�^ƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚ�ŽĨ�^ŝŐŶŝĮĐĂŶĐĞ�ŝƐ�ǇŽƵƌ�
ŵĂŝŶ�ĂƌŐƵŵĞŶƚ�ĨŽƌ�ĚĞƐŝŐŶĂƟŽŶ�ƐŽ�ŝƚ�ŝƐ�ŝŵƉŽƌƚĂŶƚ�ƚŽ�ƐƵďƐƚĂŶƟĂƚĞ�ĂŶǇ�ĐůĂŝŵƐ�ǇŽƵ�ŵĂŬĞ�ǁŝƚŚ�ƐƵƉƉŽƌƟŶŐ�
ĚŽĐƵŵĞŶƚĂƟŽŶ�ĂŶĚ�ƌĞƐĞĂƌĐŚ͘

Name: Company:

Street Address:

Zip: Phone Number:

City: State:

Email:

WƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ�KǁŶĞƌ zes No hŶŬŶoǁŶ/Ɛ�ƚŚĞ�ŽǁŶĞƌ�ŝŶ�ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ�ŽĨ�ƚŚĞ�ŶŽŵŝŶĂƟŽŶ͍

M. Rosalind Sagara, see attachment for co-preparers and co-applicantLos Angeles Conservancy

523 W. 6th St., Suite 826 Los Angeles CA

90014 213-430-4211 rsagara@laconservancy.org

Greater Page Temple Church of God in Christ Greater Page Temple Church of God in Christ

2610 S. La Salle Avenue Los Angeles CA

90018 323-870-5270 greaterpaget@gmail.com

M. Rosalind Sagara, Lindsay Mulcahy, Andrea Mauk see attachment for more information

see attachment for more information



8. CONTACT INFORMATION

Co-Applicants

Name: M. Rosalind Sagara
Company: Los Angeles Conservancy (Co-Applicant)
Street Address: 523 W. 6th Street #826
Zip: 90014
Phone Number: (213) 430-4211
City: Los Angeles
State: California
Email: rsagara@laconservancy.org

Name: Dr. David E. Harris, Pastor
Company: Greater Page Temple Church of God in Christ (Co-Applicant)
Street Address: 2610 S. La Salle Avenue
Zip: 90018
Phone Number: (323) 870-5270
City: Los Angeles
State: California
Email: Greaterpaget@gmail.com

Nomination Co-Preparers/Application Representative

Name: M. Rosalind Sagara and Lindsay Mulcahy (Co-preparers)
Company: Los Angeles Conservancy
Street Address: 523 W. 6th Street #826
Zip: 90014
Phone Number: (213) 430-4211
City: Los Angeles
State: California
Email: rsagara@laconservancy.org

Name: Andrea Mauk (Co-preparer)
Company: West Adams Neighborhood Association
Street Address: 2703 Brighton Avenue
Zip: 90018
Phone Number: (213) 909–1349
City: Los Angeles
State: California
Email: dancinghorsemediagroup@gmail.com



NOMINATION FORM 

9. SUBMITTAL 

When you have completed prep.iring your nomlnarton, compile all materials In the order specified below Although the entire packet must not exceed 100 pages, you may send .idd1rtonal materi.il on a co or flash drove 

APPLICATION CHECKLIST 

., Nom1narton form 
s ., 

2. ., Written Statements A and B Cop es of Primary/Secondary Documentation 
6 ., 

3 ., 81bhocraphy Cop es of Bu Id ng Pemuts for M.ijot >J•er.itiot,j 
lmclude f rst construction perm ts) 

4 ., Two Primary Photos of Exterior/Main Facade 
(SxlO, the main photo of the proposed monument Also email a dlg1tial copy of the main photo to: planning.ohr@lac1ty org) 

7 ., t,dd1rtonal, Contemponry Photos 

8 ., H,stonal Photos 

9. ., Z1mas Parcel Report for all Norn Nted Parcels 10.RELEASE (mdud1ng map) 

Pied,., ,.,.,a each statement and check the corresponding ho.es to indicate that you agree with the statement, then s.;v, t,ero,,... n the provided space. Either the applicant or preparer may sign X 
X 
X 

I acknowledge that all documents submitted will become public records under the C.-.liforma Public Records Act. and undern.and that the documents will be made available upon request to members of the public for inspecnon and c0py1ng 
I acknowledge that all photographs and images submitted as part of this applfcanon wtll become the property of the Q:y of Los Angeles, and understand that permission ls granted for use of the photographs and images by the OtY without anv '":,eaa:,on of compensanon. 

acknowledge that I have the right to submit or have obtained the appropriate permission to submit all ln'ormat>on contatned n this applicanon. 

M. Rosalind Sagara and 
Dr. David E. Harris 3-4-25 

Date: 
Name· 

Signature. 

Mail your Historic•Cultural Monument Submittal to the Office of Historic Resources 

Office of Historic Resources 
Department of City Planning 

221 N. Figueroa St., Ste. 1350 
Los Angeles, CA 90012 

Phone: 213-874-3679 
Website preservanon.lacity.org 
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7.  WRITTEN STATEMENTS A & B 
 
7A. PROPOSED MONUMENT DESCRIPTION 
 
Property Description 
 
The Greater Page Temple Church of God in Christ is located at 2610 South La Salle Avenue in South Los 
Angeles. The one and two-story Late Gothic Revival church was developed in two phases, initiated by 
Austin and Brown in 1906 and completed by Austin and Pennell in 1913 for the West Adams Methodist 
Episcopal Church. The building is in overall good condition and retains a high degree of integrity.  
 
Site 
 
The church is located on the southeast corner of a large parcel on Adams Boulevard and La Salle Avenue 
in the Adams-Normandie neighborhood of Los Angeles. The church’s scale and massing distinguishes it 
from the surrounding area; the Adams Boulevard corridor is composed of one and two story commercial, 
mixed use, and multi-family residences, while surrounding buildings south on La Salle Avenue are one 
and two story single-family and multi-family residences.  
 
A white metal pole sign with a cross on top that reads Greater Page Temple Church of God in Christ, 
Bishop L.C. Page Founder and Dr. D.E. Harris Senior Pastor is present at the northwestern corner of the 
property facing east/west. Another white metal pole sign that reads Greater Page Temple Church of God 
in Christ, Dr. D.E. Harris Senior Pastor is located off of La Salle.  
 
The perimeter of the parcel is fenced at the western and northern property lines by a white metal gate. A 
metal chain link fence encloses the remainder of the property. Minimal landscaping is found at the 
western and northern property lines closest to the building. A time capsule installed in 2003 is located at 
the west property line near a contemporary concrete heart-shaped paver. The building is surrounded to the 
south and east by a large surface parking lot.  
 
Building – Exterior 
 
The 1.5 story building is rendered in the Late Gothic Revival style. The subject building is rectangular in 
plan and composed of brick and stone. The roof is high pitched with a cross gable and is covered with 
non-original asphalt shingle.  
 
The primary/west facade faces La Salle Avenue and is asymmetrical. The facade consists of two main 
components: a high-pitched cross gable and the steeple. The cross gable has a plaster rake, squared off at 
the ridge. A two-story bay window is set into the cross gable, as is the primary entrance. The primary 
entrance is approached at street level by a sidewalk that leads to eight concrete steps to three identical 
double doors, each recessed under an Ogee four-centered portal arch. The doors are constructed of wood 
and feature a central glass plate, recessed in the arch behind decorative metal doors. At the northernmost 
section is a square steeple tower that is two bays wide with windows throughout, covered by a flat roof 
with a non-original affixed cross sitting at the top. The steeple windows are narrow rectangles with 
varying characteristics and materials including plaster sills and lintels, and louvers at the highest section. 
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The steeple has setbacks on each corner and a fluted entablature. There is a secondary entrance on the 
south facade of the steeple with a swinging wood-paneled door behind a metal security gate, framed by an 
ornate entablature. The window fenestration is asymmetrical and includes ornate original wood frame 
leaded windows; non-original sliding aluminum windows with concrete sills and lintels; fixed light 
clerestory windows.  
 
The north facade, facing Adams Boulevard, was part of the 1913 construction project. It is characterized 
by gothic elements such as a large pointed arch tracery window, framed by two tapered buttresses, under 
a high-pitched gable with the same rake as the primary/west facing gable. The tracery window molding 
and fascia are plaster. The tracery window is framed by two slit windows on the first floor. Metal letters 
that read, “Greater Page Temple,” are adhered to the building just below the window. The steeple tower is 
located to the west. There is a cornerstone on the northwest corner of the steeple tower. One side is a 
stone that reads, “1912”; the other, “Greater Page Temple Church of God in Christ / organized V 4, 1943 / 
purchased Jan. 1, 1964.” 
 
The south facade is five bays wide with cut corners that also have windows. The southern part of the 
building is two stories with a flat roof, which attaches to the main body of the building so that the rear 
facing gable is significantly set back from the roofline. The rear-facing gable has wood paneled siding, 
three narrow arched windows, and a protruding rake. There is a recessed entrance with double wooden 
doors accessed by a short set of concrete steps with handrails. Windows on the first floor are rectangular 
casement windows, and on the second floor are non-original sliding windows. All windows have original 
wooden surrounds, sills and lintels. Non-original decorative metal screens have been added to the first 
floor windows. 
 
The east facade features a high-pitched cross gable with two one-story rectangular wings on each side 
with secondary entrances. The southern entry faces east and is accessed by a short set of concrete stairs 
that lead up to a small landing and non-original metal door. The northern entry faces north; it is ADA 
accessible with a ramp leading to wooden double doors with an ornate entablature. The fenestration is 
asymmetrical. The windows on the north-end of the one-story wing are arched with an ornate entablature 
that is mirrored on the door entryway. On the second story is a mix of original leaded windows and non-
original aluminum sliding windows. There is one third story arched louvered window near the top of the 
gable. All windows on the first story and three on the second story have non-original decorative metal 
screens. 
 
Building - Interior 
 
The interior of the church consists of the main sanctuary, vestibule, fellowship hall, downstairs offices, 
kitchen and basement. The main staircase, on the southwest portion of the building, features ornate 
wooden rails, wainscoting, and a landing with a canted bay composed of four windows. The staircase 
leads to the second story offices and classrooms, and balcony of the fellowship hall. There are secondary 
staircases on the southeastern and northwestern portions of the building.  
 
The interior of the main sanctuary was constructed in 1913 and is accessed from a main/west vestibule, 
with secondary entries present to the east and south. The main sanctuary is about half of the footprint of 
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the church with a barrel-vaulted ceiling. Intricate hardwood ribs that terminate in corbels, cross the 
vaulted ceiling. Hardwood beams are exposed in the ceiling. Oak paneled wainscotting surrounds the east 
and west walls of the room. The original wooden pews face northward toward the chancel which is 
partially enclosed by a low wooden railing. A large pointed arch tracery window depicts Jesus and others 
in a landscape setting with donor names identified at the bottom of the window. The stage is accessed by 
stairs and includes a non-original baptistery. Choir risers are located at the northernmost end of the stage 
and behind the original pulpit. 
  
Arcaded transepts flank the main sanctuary’s nave to the west and east. There is a wooden molding arch 
adhered to the south wall covering almost the entire face of the wall. This wall is retractable and can be 
removed to connect the main sanctuary to the fellowship hall behind it. On the second floor is a small 
wooden balcony that looks out from the pastor’s office out onto the southwest corner of the sanctuary. 
There are eight brass chandeliers, four on each side of the room. 
 
The fellowship hall is a relatively modest room to the south of the building that served as the main hall 
before 1913. It is two stories with a balcony that extends in a U-shape, across the south, west, and east 
walls. On the first floor, decorative wooden moldings line the doors and windows and there is an original 
built-in china cabinet on the west wall. The balcony has a partial wooden-paneled wall and brass railing. 
Non-original auditorium style seating is on two levels of the balcony. The same type of molding adorns 
the walls and windows on the second floor. The fellowship hall has a coffered ceiling with a small 
skylight that comes down from the east side of the roof. Five pendant lights hang from the ceiling.  
 
There are several other offices and classrooms on the first floor that retain varying degrees of original 
material. On the first floor, the Hall of Memories displays photos and memorabilia of the congregation’s 
history and key members. There is a large kitchen on the southeast end of the building, just east of the 
fellowship hall. Rooms on the second story include various classrooms, offices, and a library off of the 
second story that largely retain their original doors, flooring, and window moldings. There is one room on 
the basement level. 
 
Character-defining features 
 
Building - Exterior 

● 1.5 story asymmetrical building, roughly in cruciform shape 
● Steeply pitched cross gabled roof  
● Brick facade 
● Steeple tower with windows, setbacks, and fluted entablature 
● Primary double entrance wooden doors set beneath Ogee four-centered portal arches accessed by 

set of stairs 
● Secondary double entrance wooden doors with ornate entablature 
● Painted white concrete window lintels, tracery molding, and rakes 
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Building – Interior 
 

● Two auditorium spaces, connected by a retractable screen 
● Smaller two-story fellowship hall with a U-shaped partial wooden-paneled balcony and coffered 

ceilings 
● Larger two-story sanctuary with barrel-vaulted ceiling composed of hardwood ribs, beams, and 

corbels and small balcony off of the second story 
● Large tracery window featuring stained glass 
● Original oak floors 
● Original oak pews  
● Brass chandeliers   
● Arcaded transepts 
● Oak paneled wainscotting 
● Oak molding on doors and walls 
● Original wood flooring in some second story rooms 
● Built-in cabinets  
● Antique door hardware 

 

Alteration history 
 
25 August 1906  Construct southern portion of the church 
 
12 July 1912  Construct northern portion of the church 
 
3 November 1931 Alter two classrooms by dividing up into smaller rooms 
 
14 March 1950  Add projecting metal neon sign that reads “West Adams Methodist Church” on  

the northwestern portion of church, facing Adams 
 
9 April 1957  Change interior partitions and plumbing  
 
2 January 1962  Parapet wall correction on tower and over exits and exitways around building 
 
19 March 1962  Install baptistery at stage in main sanctuary 
 
2 February 1982 Install steel-frame cross on the steeple tower roof 
 
Unknown date  Remove chimney on east facade  
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7B. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 
 
The Greater Page Temple Church of God in Christ at 2610 South La Salle Avenue meets the following 
criteria for designation as a Los Angeles Historic-Cultural Monument (HCM): 
  

Criterion 1: It is identified with important events of national, state, or local history, or 
exemplifies significant contributions to the broad cultural, economic or social history of the 
nation, state, city or community.  

 
The property meets Criterion 1 for its contributions to the spiritual, social and cultural development of the 
African American community in Los Angeles with a period of significance from 1952 to 1980. Beginning 
in 1952 when Mt. Sinai Missionary Baptist Church occupied the building to the end of founder Bishop 
L.C. Page’s tenure at Greater Page Temple Church of God in Christ, the subject building has been an 
important place of worship, education and cultural growth for African Americans in Los Angeles.  
 

Criterion 2: It is associated with the lives of historic personages important to national, state, city, 
or local history. 

 
The property derives significance and is eligible under Criterion 2 for its association with the church’s 
namesake, Bishop L.C. Page, an early and foundational leader of the Church of God in Christ, who helped 
grow the denomination in Los Angeles, nationally, and internationally through evangelism with a period 
of significance from 1964 to 1980.   
 

Criterion 3: It embodies the distinctive characteristics of a style, type, period, or method of 
construction; or represents a notable work of a master designer, builder, or architect whose 
individual genius influenced his or her age.  

 
Designed by architects John C. Austin with W.C. Pennell for the West Adams Methodist Episcopal 
Church, the subject building is an excellent example of Late Gothic Revival religious architecture in 
South Los Angeles with a period of significance of 1913. 
 
 
Historical Background 
 
History of Adams-Normandie 

The subject building is in the Adams-Normandie neighborhood located in the southwestern section of the 
City of Los Angeles south of the Santa Monica Freeway and northwest of the University of Southern 
California (USC) campus.  

This area is ancestral and unceded territory of the original people of Los Angeles, the Tongva, who 
defined their world as Tovaangar.1 The subject building is closest to the former villages of Yaanga and 
Geveronga and was most probably controlled by them for thousands of years.2 Prior to the period of 
conquest and colonization by Spanish, Mexican and U.S. governments (1769-present), the Tongva 
intensively managed their lands, by cultivating, pruning, seeding, and above all, by seasonal burning.3  

 
1 Sean Greene and Thomas Curwen, “Mapping the Tongva villages of L.A.’s past,” Los Angeles Times, 9 May 2019.  
2 “Department of History Land Acknowledgement,” USC Dornsife Department of History, accessed June 9, 2024, 
https://dornsife.usc.edu/hist/home/department-of-history-land-acknowledgement/  
3 Ibid. 
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In the 1770s, the Spanish established a colonial military, religious, and economic base at Misíon San 
Gabriel Arcángel, relocating thousands of Tongva and their neighbors from surrounding village-states.4 
The colonial occupation depended on the forced labor of the Tongva, which would eradicate the local 
Indigenous economic base by displacing flowerfields with European grazing grasses and cutting ancient 
acorn-bearing oaks for lumber.5 According to “We Are Still Here,” a report on past, present and ongoing 
harms against local tribes prepared for the County of Los Angeles, “[c]enturies of displacement, 
enslavement, incarceration, and genocide from successive waves of settlers – the Spanish, the Mexicans, 
and then Americans – mean that most local Tribes don’t hold the present-day titles to their ancestral 
lands.”6 Despite subjugation by Spanish, Mexican and U.S. governments, members of the Gabrielino-
Tongva tribe continue to be stewards of their homelands today. 
 
In 1868, Charles Victor Hall, a claims lawyer who had worked for the U.S. Land Office, purchased 160 
acres of  “dry, gently sloping brush land,” which is generally bounded by Adams Boulevard on the north, 
Jefferson Boulevard on the south, Normandie Avenue on the east, and Western Avenue on the west.7 Hall 
homesteaded the West Adams Heights Tract, to the north of this area, with his sister Mary in the same 
year.8 
 
By 1908, following the establishment and expansion of the University of Southern California (USC) and 
subsequent improvements to city infrastructure and transportation systems, the neighborhoods 
surrounding USC became prime real estate for affluent families in the City.9 Mostly middle-class white 
residents moved into the area and by 1912, the tract was nearly built-out with single-family dwellings on 
its internal streets and commercial buildings along the perimeter streets of Jefferson Boulevard, Adams 
Boulevard, and Western Avenue.10  
 
By 1939, the Home Owners’ Loan Corporation (HOLC) noted that deed restrictions in Adams-
Normandie had expired and described the neighborhood as “In Decline.” According to HOLC, fifteen to 
twenty years previous to mapping the district, the area was considered high grade, however due to 
conversion of old homes into multifamily dwellings and boarding houses and the possibility that it could 
become a blighted area through infiltration of subversive racial elements from districts to the south, it was 
given a “low yellow” grade.11  
 

 
4 “Department of History Land Acknowledgement,” USC Dornsife Department of History, accessed June 9, 2024, 
https://dornsife.usc.edu/hist/home/department-of-history-land-acknowledgement/ 
5 Ibid.  
6 Ashley Dobson, Tremayne Nez, and Desireé Martinez, “We Are Still Here.”A Report on Past, Present, and 
Ongoing Harms Against Local Tribes, 8. 
7 In 1969, this area was designated for redevelopment by the City Council and identified as the Normandie 5 Project 
Redevelopment Area. For more information, see Patricia Adler, History of the Normandie Program Area, 1.  
8 Intensive Historic Resources Survey of the Normandie 5 Redevelopment Area, 17. While the Homestead Act 
increased the number of people in the western U.S. it added another layer of conflict between the U.S. government 
and native peoples. See Native Americans and the Homestead Act, 
https://www.nps.gov/home/learn/historyculture/native-americans-and-the-homestead-
act.htm#:~:text=The%20Homestead%20Act%20increased%20the,homelands%20or%20crowded%20onto%20reser
vations. 
9 Intensive Historic Resources Survey of the Normandie 5 Redevelopment Area, 19. 
10 Ibid. 
11 HOLC C122 Area Description of Los Angeles, 
https://dsl.richmond.edu/panorama/redlining/map/CA/LosAngeles/area_descriptions/C122#loc=15/34.0091/-
118.2955&adview=full 
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According to the U.S. Census, the population of the neighborhood was almost exclusively of European 
ancestry until after World War II. The Intensive Historic Resources Survey of the Normandie 5 
Community Redevelopment Area documents: 

The vast majority of the residential neighborhoods in Los Angeles west of Main Street 
were subject to racially restrictive covenants and the Charles Victor Hall Tract was no 
exception. The use of covenants diminished after 1948, when the U.S. Supreme Court 
ruled in Shelley v. Kraemer that it was unconstitutional for courts to enforce the 
agreements, although it never declared the agreements themselves unlawful. (Intensive 
Historic Resources Survey of the Normandie 5 Community Redevelopment Area, 19)  

The Shelley v. Kraemer case had roots in a Los Angeles restrictive covenant case involving the White 
Homeowners Protective Association and Black homeowners of Sugar Hill, a neighborhood located just 
north of the Charles Victor Hall Tract. Famed civil rights lawyer Loren Miller argued the case and won in 
California Supreme Court. While the decision was appealed by the white homeowners, it set an important 
precedent for future cases concerning racial covenants. Miller went on to work with a team of lawyers to 
help bring the issue before the U.S. Supreme Court, where it was considered under the Shelley v. Kraemer 
case; Miller wrote the brief and argued the case alongside Thurgood Marshall. The Supreme Court ruled 
that racially restrictive covenants could not be enforced by the state of California, because the 
enforcement of the covenant would require the state to implement a discriminatory action.12 With deed 
restrictions deemed unconstitutional, the population of area continued to diversify with increasing 
numbers of African Americans and Latinx residents in the 1950s and subsequent decades.  
 
Today, the area is comprised of single-family and multi-family residential, commercial and institutional 
resources dating from the 1880s through the 1960s as well as more recent infill development. Notable 
historic resources in the neighborhood include the Golden State Mutual Insurance Building (HCM #580), 
Loren Miller Park and Community Center and Fire Station No. 18 (HCM #349). 
 
Development of 2610 South La Salle Avenue and Brief History of its Congregations 

According to the Los Angeles Times, the original congregation of the subject building was the West 
Adams Methodist Episcopal Church, established in 1902.13 In 1906, they hired the architecture firm of 
Austin and Brown to begin plans for a church within the “exclusive residence district.”14 Due to a 
shortage of funds, the construction of the church was put on hold for several years.15 When the building 
was completed in 1913 by Austin and Pennell, the Los Angeles Times described it: “[T]o all intents and 
purposes, a new edifice,” which incorporated the earlier rear portion of the building into “one of the most 
attractive churches of its size yet erected in Los Angeles.”16 Dedication ceremonies lasted one week, 

 
12 Josh Sides, L.A. City Limits, African American Los Angeles from the Great Depression to the Present, 98-99. 
13 “Crenshaw Methodists to Hold Pioneer Night,” Los Angeles Times, 9 May 1953. 
14 Ibid; Los Angeles Department of Building and Safety Building Permit, August 25, 1906. An exclusive residence 
district would have referred to a deed restricted residential area that forbade certain uses, types of buildings, or 
owners/occupants based on race or ethnicity.  
15 “Modest Strat [sic], Notable End,” Los Angeles Times, 13 March 1913. A 1907 Sanborn map confirms the 
construction of the rear portion of the subject building. This map also shows a single-story residence on the adjacent 
parcel on West Adams Boulevard, east of the subject building. By 1922, the Sanborn map of the same area shows 
the subject building’s parcel now expanded to include the parcel to the east where the residence once stood. Los 
Angeles City directories document the residence at 1854 W. Adams from 1899 to 1922. 
16 “Handsome Edifice,” Los Angeles Times, 28 December 1913. 
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beginning with a Sunday morning service led by Bishop Hughes and culminating with an Easter 
Communion service conducted by the pastor of the church, Reverend George A. Henry.17  

“In the early twentieth century, the Methodist Episcopal Church was a powerful religious, social and 
political presence in Los Angeles,” according to Spitzerri18 In 1880, Methodists were primary founders of 
the University of Southern California, which was affiliated with the church into the early 20th century.19 
They were also at the forefront of the temperance movement and advocated for local and national 
Prohibition.20 Prominent civic and business leaders served on the board of directors of the West Adams 
Methodist Church, such as Luther G. Reynolds, Superintendent of the Methodist Hospital and Los 
Angeles Commandery No. 9 of the Knights Templar, and Charles Irwin Douglas (C.I.D.) Moore with 
Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Company and trustee of the University of Southern California.21 

The subject church was founded as the West Adams Methodist Episcopal Church, but following mergers 
in 1939, it would thereafter be known as the West Adams Methodist Church.22 In 1952, the West Adams 
Methodist congregation, which is believed to have served a primarily white congregation during this time, 
sold their building to the Mt. Sinai Missionary Baptists, a Black congregation. Although the exact reasons 
for selling the subject property remain unknown at the time of this writing, given the merger of West 
Adams with the Parkdale congregation the same year the building was sold, it is likely the West Adams 
congregation was in their final lifecycle and sought to combine resources with another congregation as a 
self-preservation strategy.23 United with Parkdale Church, they formed the Crenshaw Methodist Church at 
3740 Don Felipe Drive (extant, now called Crenshaw United Methodist Church).24  
 
The Mt. Sinai Missionary Baptist Church had grown from 40 to 1500 congregants in less than three years 
under the leadership of Reverend H.B. Charles. The subject building was purchased to accommodate their 
rapidly growing congregation. The entrance observance included a march from its previous church 
location on the corner of 27th and Western Avenue (extant) to the subject building. Festivities associated 
with their new church were held over a ten-day period in July 1952.25  

 
17 “Handsome Edifice,” Los Angeles Times, 28 December 1913. 
18 Paul R. Spitzerri, “Take It On Faith: The Dedication Program for the First Methodist Episcopal Church, Los 
Angeles, 8 July 1923,” accessed February 14, 2025, https://homesteadmuseum.blog/2021/07/08/take-it-on-faith-the-
dedication-program-for-the-first-methodist-episcopal-church-los-angeles-8-july-1923/ 
19 Ibid. 
20 Ibid. 
21 “Luther G. Reynolds, 62, Masonic Leader, Dies,” Los Angeles Times, 9 December 1947; “C.I.D. Moore, Pioneer 
Civic Leader, Dies,” Los Angeles Times, 25 April 1944. Charles I.D. Moore’s final residence located at 2242 South 
Hobart in the nearby West Adams Heights Tract has been landmarked (Historic-Cultural Monument #1086). 
22 Leah Griffith email communication to authors, January 26, 2025; In 1939, the Methodist Episcopal Church, the 
Methodist Episcopal Church South and the Methodist Protestant Church merged to become the Methodist Church, 
hence the name change from the West Adams Methodist Episcopal Church to the West Adams Methodist Church.  
23 Jennifer Gaylord, email communication to Leah Griffith forwarded to authors, December 11, 2024; The 1952 
Journal of the One Hundred Second Annual Session confirms July 1952 as the date West Adams sold their property 
to Mt. Sinai Missionary Baptist Church. Additional annual conference booklets of the California-Pacific Conference 
of the United Methodist Church document a decrease in the West Adams Methodist church membership from 424 in 
1916 to 230 in 1951, the year before the sale of the church property. See California-Pacific Conference The United 
Methodist Church, 1916 Journal of the Forty-First Annual Session in Southern California Conference of the 
Methodist Episcopal Church (1876-1939), 154, www.calpacumc.org/archiveshistory; California-Pacific Conference 
The United Methodist Church, 1951 Journal of the One Hundred First Annual Session in Southern California-
Arizona Conference of The Methodist Church (1939-1967), 194, www.calpacumc.org/archiveshistory; 1952 Journal 
of the One Hundred Second Annual Session in Southern California-Arizona Conference of The Methodist Church 
(1939-1967, 162, www.calpacumc.org/archiveshistory. 
24 “Crenshaw Methodists to Hold Pioneer Night,” Los Angeles Times, 9 May 1953. 
25 “Mt. Sinai Planning Entrance Observance,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 3 July 1952. 
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Six years later, the congregation had grown to more than 6,000 members, with new programs dedicated to 
the spiritual and material well-being of its congregants.26 A.S. “Doc” Young of the Los Angeles Sentinel 
wrote of Mt. Sinai in 1958, “This is a church whose membership is a true cross-section of the city’s 
Negro population. It is not by any means a society church. For on its rolls are listed boot-blacks and 
businessmen, movie stars and beauticians, barbers and attorneys, doctors, and domestics.”27  
 
When Reverend H.B. Charles and his congregation arrived at the subject building in 1952, Mt. Sinai’s 
pastor was already known as a dynamo in the pulpit and served as the second vice president of Baptist 
Ministers’ Union, the largest body of ministers west of the Mississippi River.28 During his tenure at the 
subject building, Reverend Charles’ leadership on religious and community matters continued to grow. 
He was frequently invited to speak at special church services, events, and meetings, which ranged from a 
1953 panel, “The Contribution of the Negro’s Church to Negro History,” part of the city’s annual Negro 
History Week (precursor to Black History Month programs), to a 1957 Thanksgiving Prayer Service 
organized by the Baptist Ministers’ Union and the Los Angeles Business Men’s Associates, which aimed 
to bring Black businessmen and the clergy closer to together to solve community problems, to a meeting 
called by Reverend H.H. Brookings of the First AME Church in 1962 between the Black community and 
the LAPD to go over plans for establishing a better atmosphere in police procedures among the city’s 
minority groups.29  
 
Mt. Sinai also provided a safe space for community organizations to meet and host events in the 1950s 
and 1960s. In 1954, as part of the city’s annual Negro History Week programming, a historical survey of 
Black music with Professor John A. Gray, President of the Musicians Alliance, was presented at Mt. Sinai 
Baptist Church.30 In the years following, Negro History Week planning meetings were held at the subject 
building.31  
 
The church supported activities that sought to give a stronger political voice to its congregants and 
community. A single membership drive held at the church in 1960 resulted in the enrollment of more than 
500 members to the NAACP Los Angeles Chapter’s membership roster. In 1962, a voter registration rally 
which featured guest speaker Governor Pat Brown was organized at the church by the ministers of the 
Church Registration Association on the anniversary of the historic Supreme Court decision desegregating 
schools built on previous local voter registration efforts.32 Such community organizing efforts and events 
would lead to important gains for the community, including the desegregation of schools in Los Angeles. 
 
In the 1960s, Black churches across the U.S. would play an integral role in the Civil Rights Movement, 
though Black Baptists were divided on the role the church should play in the struggle. In the 1960s, those 
who supported the efforts of Martin Luther King, Jr., including Reverend Charles, established the 
Progressive Convention in California.33 The Progressive National Baptist Convention was established in 
1961 and emphasized civil rights and social justice.  
 

 
26 Ibid.  
27 A.S. Doc Young, “Mt. Sinai Grew From Nothing,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 13 November 1958. 
28 “Baptist Ministers Union Installs Officers at Village Baptist Church,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 26 January 1950. 
29 “History Week Mass Parley Feb. 8,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 5 February 1953; “Business Men Hold Joint Prayer 
Rites,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 5 December 1957; “Chief Boils, Pastors’ Please Bring Calmness,” Los Angeles 
Sentinel, 17 May 1962. 
30 Ibid.  
31 “History Week Group Maps 1955 Agenda,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 13 January 1955. 
32 “Ministers Will Get Out Vote,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 3 May 1962. 
33 “The Progressive News,” H.B. Charles Jr, accessed November 26, 2022, https://hbcharlesjr.com/resource-
library/articles/the-progressive-news/. 
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On February 28, 1960, three planned events in Los Angeles, including one at the subject building, 
featured Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. on behalf of the Southern Christian Leadership Conference. The Los 
Angeles Sentinel reported, “This is the first time in the history of Los Angeles two ministerial groups have 
come together as one to afford the city unity in support of the principles for which Dr. King stands.”34 The 
event was sponsored by the Baptist Ministers Union and the Interdenominational Ministers Alliance.35 Dr. 
King’s address to the huge crowd that gathered at Mt. Sinai was titled “Going Forward by Going 
Backward” and called upon U.S. leaders to save the soul of America by returning to the principles of 
brotherhood and freedom of which the county was founded.36 Following his speech, Reverend Charles 
presented Dr. King with a plaque honoring him for his achievements in human relations.  
 
In 1963, Bishop L.C. Page, a foundational leader of the Church of God in Christ (COGIC), purchased the 
subject building and moved his congregation which was located at 1545 W. 35th Place (extant)37 to their 
permanent home in 1964. Like the Mt. Sinai Missionary Baptists who had moved into the subject 
building to accommodate their growing congregation, the incoming congregation also needed a larger 
place to worship. Their congregation thereafter would be known as Greater Page Temple Church of God 
in Christ (Greater Page Temple COGIC).  
 
As the longtime location of the Greater Page Temple COGIC and for its association with Bishop L.C. 
Page, the subject building is an important part of African American religious history in Los Angeles. A 
key driver in the Church of God in Christ’s national and international evangelism mission and agenda, 
Bishop Page brought growing numbers of people from across the city, country and world to 
Pentecostalism. In addition to his weekly Sunday radio programs,38 a variety of public events and 
programs held at the subject building were intended to grow the Church of God in Christ’s ministry in 
Los Angeles. The larger space accommodated more local programs, including a 40-day Lenten Revival 
(1965), Men’s Day (1966), and the Homecoming Gospel Musical featuring internationally acclaimed 
Clara Ward and the Ward Singers (1968), programs meant to draw new members and sustain existing 
ones.39  
 
The church also hosted important statewide gatherings of denominational church leaders such as 40th 
annual International Evangelists Convention of the Church of God in Christ (1968) and the State Workers 
Meeting of the Central California Jurisdiction of the Church of God in Christ (1969).40 To date, all but 
one of the Church of God in Christ’s Presiding Bishops have visited and preached at Greater Page Temple 
Church of God in Christ multiple times, affirming the church’s important place in the denomination’s 
development and history.41 
 
Following Bishop Page’s passing in 1980, his son Lucius Page Jr. was appointed the pastor of the church, 
a post he held until 2000. Pastor Theodis Johnson was the pastor from 2000 to 2016. In 2016, Pastor Dr. 
David E. Harris was appointed the pastor by Bishop Joe L. Ealy. Today Greater Page Temple COGIC 
offers weekly in-person and virtual bible study and Sunday services. The church organizes a number of 
community-serving programs, including providing weekly food boxes to needy families, hosting an 

 
34 “Rev. King Here Sun. In Rally Meetings,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 25 February 1960. 
35 “Huge Crowds Attend M.L. King Rallies,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 3 March 1960. 
36 Ibid. 
37 “Celebration Planned for The Pages,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 15 June 1967; “Crenshaw Methodists to Hold Pioneer 
Night,” Los Angeles Times, 9 May 1953. 
38 “Dedication Services of Greater Page Temple,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 16 January 1964. 
39 “Page Temple Maps Revival,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 11 March 1965; “Photo Standalone 30 – No Title,” Los 
Angeles Sentinel, 27 October 1966; “Clara Ward To Sing at Page Temple,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 8 February 1968. 
40 “World Religious Advocates Congregate For Convention,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 29 August 1968; “Statewide 
Workers Meeting Set,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 23 January 1969. 
41 Zoom conversation with Pastor Dr. David E. Harris, December 13, 2022. 
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annual free Thanksgiving dinner and Christmas Toy Drive, and direct ministry to people experiencing 
homelessness and the general public.  
 
In 2011, the subject building was identified as an eligible historic resource in the Normandie 5 
Redevelopment Area Historic Resources Survey (2011) under two contexts: Government and Private 
Institutional Development, 1894-1912 and Residential Development, 1946-1960, and assigned California 
Historical Resource Status codes 3S, 3CS and 5S2. In addition to the church’s role as a significant center 
for African American religious and cultural life in the 1950s to the present day, the subject building has 
been a significant filming location for nearly a century, featured in multiple movies, television shows, music 
videos and photo shoots. In 1925, the exterior of the church was used in Seven Chances, a film directed by 
and starring Buster Keaton. The film also featured Ruth Dwyer, T. Roy Barnes and Snitz Edwards. Also in 
1925, Harry Edwards directed His Marriage Wow, which featured the interior of the building. The film 
starred Harry Langston, Natalie Kingston, William McCall and Vernon Dent. In more recent years, the 
interior of the church was used in two episodes of the television series, Bosch, starring Titus Welliver. The 
Episodes “Chapter Eight: High Low,” (2015) and “Victim of the Night,” (2016) include scenes filmed at 
the church. And for his sixteenth studio album and first gospel album, Bible of Love, iconic rapper Snoop 
Dogg filmed his music video, “Words are Few,” inside the church. The video also features singer B. Slade. 
The album was nominated for a BET Award for Best Gospel/Inspirational Artist. 
 
 
Church of God in Christ in Los Angeles 
 
In Bound for Freedom: Black Los Angeles in Jim Crow America, historian Doug Flamming writes, 
“Black churches were their pride and joy, their haven in a racist America. Race, obviously, had 
everything to do with the creation of Black churches, but it was only in these churches that African 
Americans could truly act as individual Americans, without having to strain their lives through the filter 
of race.”42 Churches were not only places of spiritual nourishment and expression, but also where 
ministers, lay leaders, and congregants considered the experiences and needs of the African American 
community.  
 
Black churches in Los Angeles appeared early and proliferated quickly, following broader African 
American settlement patterns. By 1926, according to the federal religious census, Los Angeles had 33 
Black churches with over 10,000 members; by 1936 there were 54 churches with 17,296 members.43 In 
the early 20th century, Protestantism was the leading Christian denomination in the African American 
community in Los Angeles with Methodist and Baptist churches dominating the African American 
religious landscape. 
 
There were alternatives to all-Black churches in Los Angeles, the most important being the Black-led 
Azusa Street Revival, which began in 1906 in the area where the Japanese American Cultural and 
Community Center now stands.44 Led by Pastor William Seymour and his wife Jennie Moore Seymour, 
people of all ages and racial backgrounds came to worship at Azusa Street Revival. Soon, the charismatic 
movement started by the Seymours led to the creation of several Pentecostal denominations, including the 
Church of God in Christ. 

 
42 Doug Flamming, Bound for Freedom: Black Los Angeles in Jim Crow America, 110. 
43 Michael Engh, “Practically Every Religion Being Represented,” in Metropolis in the Making: Los Angeles in the 
1920s, ed. Tom Sitton and William Deverell (Berkeley: UC Press, 2001), 205.  
44 Today, the Azusa Street Revival is memorialized with a plaque located in the plaza of the Japanese American 
Cultural and Community Center and a street sign on San Pedro Street that reads, “Azusa St. Mission, site of the 
Azusa St. Revival 1906-1931. Cradle of the Worldwide Pentecostal Movement.” For more information, see David 
Hino, “The Birthplace of Millions: Azusa Street Revival and Little Tokyo,” July 6, 2012. 
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Now the largest Pentecostal group in the county and the second largest of all Black Christian 
denominations in the U.S., the Church of God in Christ was founded in Memphis, Tennessee in 1907 by 
then Baptist preacher Charles Harrison Mason, following a visit to Azusa Street Revival in Los Angeles. 
On the visit, Mason was said to have been filled with the spirit and reportedly spoke in tongues.45 Mason 
had previously been dismissed by his Baptist church in Arkansas because of his beliefs. He sought the 
“fullness of God” and a deeper spiritual experience. Mason would later emphasize the value of prophetic 
Black Christianity.46  
 
Los Angeles would become the headquarters of the Church of God in Christ’s Southern California First 
Jurisdiction, also referred to as the “Jerusalem” of the Pentecostal Movement.47 The Church of God in 
Christ began its ministry in Los Angeles in 1914, led by Overseer Eddie Robert Driver and his wife 
Mother Annie Driver.48 Sent by COGIC founder Bishop Mason, they established Saints Home Church of 
God in Christ at 1460 East 20th Street (extant), the first organized church in the State of California and 
West Coast in 1916.49  
 
From the 1930s to 1970s, during the tenure of Bishop Martin Crouch Sr., Overseer of the State of 
California, the Church of God in Christ’s First Jurisdiction experienced tremendous growth. Bishop L.C. 
Page, longtime pastor of Greater Page Temple Church of God in Christ in South Los Angeles, was among 
the First Jurisdiction’s foundational leaders.  
 
In July 1964, when the Greater Page Temple COGIC moved into the subject building, the Los Angeles 
Sentinel’s Church Directory listed 16 COGIC churches in Los Angeles. By January 1981, following 
Bishop L.C. Page’s passing, COGIC churches had more than doubled, with 34 listed in Los Angeles and 
many more in the Greater Los Angeles area. From ten congregations in the U.S. in 1907, to the largest 
Pentecostal group in the country today, COGIC in Los Angeles continues to play a major role in growing 
the denomination.50 
 
 
Bishop L.C. Page 
 
Lucius Conklin “L.C.” Page, founder and longtime pastor of the Greater Page Temple COGIC, played a 
significant role in the development and growth of COGIC on the local, state, and national level as the 
longest serving national leader of the Department of Evangelism. Page was born on August 16, 1894 in 
Kemper County, Mississippi to Perry and Mary Page, a farmer and housekeeper, respectively.51 It is 
believed that he began preaching in Mississippi at five years of age.52 He was 18 years old when he 
received his first assignment as a pastor in Columbus, Ohio.53  

 
45 Helen Losse, “Church of God in Christ,” accessed November 6, 2022, https://www.ncpedia.org/church-god-christ. 
46 Ibid. 
47 Mother Frances E. Harris, “Southern California First Jurisdiction Church of God in Christ, 100 Year History 
(1914 to 2014), 1. 
48 Ibid. 
49 Ibid; Saints Home in Los Angeles was named after COGIC founder Mason’s first church in Memphis, Tennessee. 
50 West Los Angeles COGIC at 3600 Crenshaw is the largest COGIC congregation in the country, with an estimated 
25,000 members. 
51 1900 U.S. Federal Census, Ancestry.com; U.S. World War II Draft Registration Cards, 1942 [database on-line]. 
Lehi, UT, US: Ancestry.com Operations, Inc., 2010. 
52 Virgie W Murray, “Last Rites For Bishop L.C. Page,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 6 November 1980. 
53 Jason Taylor, “Bishop L.C. Page at the age of 18 years old Pastoring his first Church,” March 23, 2021, accessed 
May 20, 2024, 
https://www.facebook.com/groups/407157769825687/search/?q=bishop%20page%2C%2018%20years. 
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In 1927, then-Elder Page was appointed to lead a new group of evangelists within the Church of God in 
Christ in St. Louis by the denomination’s founder Bishop Mason.54 Elder Page was given a second task 
by Bishop Mason in 1933 – to organize and supervise a National Evangelist Board, and soon began 
having meetings in different places across the country.55 The first of these meetings was held in Memphis 
around 1937. The early conventions of the Evangelist Board were essentially crusades led by Bishop 
Page, “a noted soul-winner,” who converted large numbers. 
 
Bishop Page and his second wife Thelma came to California in 1943 to conduct a revival for Reverend 
W.L. McKinney at the COGIC’s 21st Street Temple (extant) in South Los Angeles. The results of the 
revival were transformative, delivering healing graces to many who suffered chronic diseases.56 
Following the 28-day revival, the Pages decided to stay in Los Angeles and soon established their own 
church, Page Evangelist Temple (also known as Page Temple). Page Temple is considered among the 
founding COGIC churches in Los Angeles, remembered for helping the First Jurisdiction rise to the 
forefront of the National Church.57   
 
Bishop L.C. Page began preaching out of a small tent on San Pedro and Jefferson Street.58 Soon after, the 
congregation purchased 337 E. Jefferson Boulevard (demolished) in October 1943. In 1950, they outgrew 
that building and moved to a larger building about two miles away at 605 E. 8th Street (demolished), 
formerly occupied by the Wesley Methodist Episcopal Church. There the congregation grew to 1,000 
members.59 Eventually a permit to demolish the 8th Street church was issued in 1954.60 Longtime 
members of the congregation have shared that eminent domain may have been the reason for the 
building’s demolition.61 At around this time, the congregation merged with Antioch Church of God in 
Christ located at 1545 W. 35th Place (extant).62 The congregation moved to the subject building in 
January 1964 where they have remained since. 
 
The Page Evangelist congregation became widely known in the early 1950s, in large part due to the 
dynamic leadership of Bishop Page, remembered by some as the ““Billy Sunday” of the Race,”63and their 
Sunday prayer services, which were broadcast weekly over local radio stations.64 In addition to the 
charismatic Bishop Page, the church’s Radio Choir and other performers used their musical talents to 
draw people to the church. The COGIC emphasized the use of the choir as an integral part of the worship 
experience. In 1951, Pearline Ford, considered to be a leading American choir director in her heyday, 
became a member of the Page Evangelist Temple’s Radio Choir.65  
 

 
54 Department of Evangelism Training Manual and Handbook (Church of God in Christ, Inc., 2013), 6.  
55 Ibid. 
56 Author unknown, “From the Tent to the Temple,” 10.  
57 Mother Frances E. Harris, “Southern California First Jurisdiction Church of God in Christ, 100 Year History 
(1914 to 2014), 2. 
58 Pastor Francis Harris, “History of Greater Page Temple Church of God in Christ,” n.d. and “Celebration Planned 
for The Pages,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 15 June 1967. 
59 Church of God in Christ, Church of God in Christ 54th Annual Holy Convocation Souvenir Booklet, 23. 
60  Los Angeles Department of Building and Safety Building Permit, April 12, 1954. 
61 “History of Greater Page Temple Church of God in Christ,” n.d.; Zoom conversation with Pastor Dr. David E. 
Harris, December 13, 2022. 
62 “Celebration Planned for The Pages,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 15 June 1967; “Crenshaw Methodists to Hold Pioneer 
Night,” Los Angeles Times, 9 May 1953. 
63 “Bishop L.C. Page Conducts Xmas Community Meetings,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 21 December 1950. 
64 “Advertisement for Page Evangelist Temple Church’s Early Prayer Hour,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 31 January 1951. 
65 “Musical Achievements of Pearline Ford Listed,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 7 May 1964. 
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While serving his local congregation in Los Angeles, Bishop Page also served as the longtime national 
and international head of evangelism for the Church of God in Christ. Bishop Page had many 
accomplishments during his tenure as the head of the Department of Evangelism, which include but are 
not limited to establishing new communication and organizational tools such as The Evangelist Speaks, a 
monthly national Church of God in Christ publication in 1950, the first “regional” system in the 
department, the Evangelist Identification card, and the National Evangelist License.66  
 
In 1950, Bishop Page presided and delivered the keynote message at the annual National Evangelists of 
the Church of God in Christ session in Gary, Indiana, where he launched a crusade to add 25,000 new 
members to the churches throughout the U.S.67 In Los Angeles, he ran tent revivals throughout the First 
Jurisdiction in the 1950s.68 Bishop Page’s evangelism ministry would have him travel around the world as 
well. In 1955, the Los Angeles Sentinel reported on his return from a worldwide Pentecostal convention in 
Sweden, which also included stops in London, Paris, Jerusalem, and Cairo.69 
 
In 1972, when the Church of God in Christ’s Board of Evangelism became an official Department of 
Evangelism according to the church’s constitution, Bishop L.C. Page was appointed its first National 
President.70 He is noted as the longest serving department leader in the Church of God in Christ.71 He was 
a trusted counselor to other African American clergy and lay leaders in Los Angeles, irrespective of 
religious denomination.72 Bishop L.C. Page passed away on October 29, 1980.  
 

Late Gothic Revival Architecture  
 
In the U.S., Gothic Revival architecture was one of the earliest Period Revival styles, becoming popular 
in the late 18th century and remaining a preferred style of ecclesiastical, educational, and other 
institutional architecture through the 19th century. In Los Angeles, the Gothic Revival style was not 
common until after World War I. From the 1910s until the 1940s, every prominent architect of the era in 
Los Angeles designed buildings in the Late Gothic Revival style.73  
 
The Late Gothic Revival style was used to emphasize verticality and create prominence for buildings in 
the horizontally-oriented city. The style made reference to legitimacy, permanence, and familiar forms 
that connected the institutions of Los Angeles to the established eastern cities of the U.S. and Europe.  
 
According to SurveyLA, the Late Gothic Revival style in Los Angeles was simpler in massing and more 
detailed in ornament than earlier interpretations of Gothic Revival across the U.S.74 Buildings were 
always constructed of masonry or a substitute material like concrete painted and scored to appear like 
stone. Two tones of masonry were used to create chromatic contrasts across elevations between rooflines, 

 
66 “History,” International Department of Evangelism Church of God in Christ, accessed May 24, 2024, 
https://www.idoecogic.org/history/ . 
67 “Bishop L.C. Page Presides at Annual National Evangelist Parley Feb. 14-21 in Gary,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 2 
February 1950. 
68 Mother Frances E. Harris, “Southern California First Jurisdiction Church of God in Christ, 100 Year History 
(1914 to 2014), 4. 
69 “Bishop Returns From Religious Convention,” Los Angeles Sentinel, 21 July 1955. 
70 COGIC Department of Evangelism, 2021, “Bishop C.H. Mason and How Evangelists Help Build COGIC,” 
October 26, 2021, 16:34, https://www.facebook.com/watch/live/?ref=watch_permalink&v=618592229280463. 
71 Ibid. 
72 In conversation with Pastor David E. Harris, April 16, 2024. 
73 SurveyLA Citywide Historic Context Statement: Architecture and Engineering/Period Revival; Housing the 
Masses/Period Revival Neighborhoods, 24. 
74 Ibid. 
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entries, and window surrounds. Detailed Gothic ornament, including pointed arched entry and window 
surrounds, was made of cast stone or terra cotta.75  
 
The subject property is an excellent example of Late Gothic Revival architectural style applied to an 
ecclesiastical building. It features many Gothic Revival elements such as tapered buttresses, a steep cross-
gable roof, a tower, and pointed arches. Additional Gothic ornaments include two contrasting tones of 
masonry and stained glass windows. Gothic Revival elements are found throughout the interior, which 
includes a large tracery window in the main sanctuary, a vaulted ceiling, and arched doorways. The 
interior is finished in oak, adding to the rich feeling of a Gothic Revival church building. Though some 
alterations have been made over the years to accommodate multiple congregations’ needs, the subject 
building remains largely intact and retains sufficient integrity to convey its significance. 
 

John C. Austin 
 
John C. Austin was born in 1870 in Oxfordshire, England. His education consisted largely of private 
tutoring. He began his career in California as a draftsman in San Francisco and moved to Los Angeles in 
1895, where he formed a succession of architectural partnerships beginning in 1896.76  
 
When Austin was commissioned to design the subject building, he was a Partner in the firm of Austin and 
Brown, Architects. Upon completion of the subject building, he was a Partner in the firm of Austin and 
Pennell, Architects. In his 50+ years practicing architecture in Southern California,77 Austin designed and 
supervised the construction of many landmark buildings in Los Angeles, including the Shrine Auditorium 
(HCM #139), Hollywood Masonic Temple (HCM #277), and the Griffith Observatory (HCM #168). He 
also helped design and supervise the building of Los Angeles City Hall (HCM #150), in conjunction with 
John C. Parkinson and Albert C. Martin, Sr. Austin was an active and dedicated member of the American 
Institute of Architects (AIA). He served as the Southern California Chapter president of the AIA in 1912 
and became an AIA fellow in 1913. 
 
In addition to his professional accomplishments, Austin was a prominent civic leader in Los Angeles. He 
served as a president of various organizations, including the Chamber of Commerce, Jonathan Club, 
Southern California Historical Society, Los Angeles Humane Society for Children, and State Board of 
Architectural Examiners. He was a longtime resident of Pasadena and died in 1963 at the age of 93.  
 

W.C. Pennell  
 
According to research conducted for the National Register nomination for Fairfax Theater (Los Angeles), 
Woodbury C. Pennell (1883-1951) was born in Portland, Maine. In 1909, Pennell worked for Los 
Angeles architect John C. Austin as a draftsman. By 1910, as an architect, Pennell worked as Austin’s 
partner. With Austin, Pennell designed many downtown steel-frame height-limit buildings, along with 
civic and industrial projects. They designed the Alvarado Street Theater (highly altered) as well as such 
landmarks as the 1912 West Adams Methodist Episcopal Church at Adams and La Salle (later the Greater 

 
75 Marcus Whiffen, American Architecture Since 1780: A Guide to Styles (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1981), 173. 
76 “Austin, Field & Fry,” Los Angeles Conservancy, accessed September 12, 2022, 
https://www.laconservancy.org/architects/austin-field-fry. 
77 “John Corneby Wilson Austin (Architect),” Pacific Coast Architecture Database, accessed September 12, 2022,  
https://pcad.lib.washington.edu/person/107/ 
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Temple Page Church of God), Hotel Leighton on MacArthur Park (demolished), and the Bronson Block 
at 527 W. 7th Street (later the Collection Building).78     
 
In 1914, Pennell founded his own firm. In addition to the collaborative projects, Pennell designed elegant 
residences, schools, a large industrial laundry facility, and at least two other theaters—the Strand Theater 
at 4409 S. Broadway in 1921 (extant, highly altered) and a theater in San Pedro. In the 1940s, Pennell 
served as an advisor to the Los Angeles City Planning Commission.79         
 
    
Conclusion 
 
SurveyLA’s African American History in Los Angeles asserts, “Churches represented spaces of racial 
autonomy and freedom, where blacks could workshop in their own spaces and according to their own 
traditions. They also represented springboards for community leadership, as well as centers of social life, 
business networks, and civil rights activism.”80 The subject property at 2610 S. La Salle Avenue is a 
largely intact example of an early institutional development in South Los Angeles which has been in use 
as a house of worship for 112 years. The subject building is significant as an important ecclesiastical 
building associated with African American religious and social history in Los Angeles beginning in the 
1952 to 1980, for its association with a significant African American religious leader in the Church of 
God in Christ, Bishop L.C. Page, and for its architecture. For over 70 years, this church has centered the 
spiritual, social, and political growth of its African American congregants and community. Together, 
these generations of Angelenos have uplifted and conserved important African American religious and 
social history through their individual and collective actions, traditions, and stewardship. 
 
  

 
78 See Section 8 pages 28-29 of National Register nomination for the Fairfax Theater, 
https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/pages/1067/files/CA_Los%20Angeles%20County_Fairfax%20Theatre.pdf. For further 
information: “Fine Gothic House of Worship,” Los Angeles Times, January 14, 1912, 10; “The Westward Trend—to 
Erect Fine Loft Building,” Los Angeles Times, June 23, 1912; “Size of Hotel Leighton to Be Nearly Trebled,” Los 
Angeles Times, June 9, 1912; “Classic in Style—New Alvarado State Theater Has Imposing Front,” Los Angeles 
Times, July 19, 1914, 2; Alan Michelson, “William C. Pennell (Architect),” Alan Michelson, accessed October 23, 
2019, http://pcad.lib.washington.edu/person/864/. 
79 See Section 8 pages 28-29 of National Register nomination for the Fairfax Theater, 
https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/pages/1067/files/CA_Los%20Angeles%20County_Fairfax%20Theatre.pdf. For further 
information: “For Wilshire Corner,” Los Angeles Times, October 11, 1914, 4; “To Build Laundry Here,” Los 
Angeles Times, April 1, 1923; “Beverly Boulevard Playhouse Announced. Theater and Store Buildings Will Be 
Erected within Ninety Days”; “Ground Broken for Playhouse on Boulevard”; “School Additions Voted,” Los 
Angeles Times, May 12, 1931, 15; “Four New School Units Planned for Kiddies,” Los Angeles Times, December 13, 
1931, 3; Michelson, “William C. Pennell (Architect)”; “Obituary—Woodbury C. Pennell,” Los Angeles Times, April 
18, 1951, 11.  
80 SurveyLA African American History of Los Angeles, 120. 
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HISTORICAL TIMELINE 
Select milestones at 2610 S. La Salle Avenue and Church of God in Christ 

 
Compiled by M. Rosalind Sagara/L.A. Conservancy with Greater Page Temple Church of God in Christ 
July 1, 2024 
 
 
1906 

• Construction of subject building at 2610 S. La Salle Avenue for West Adams Methodist 
Episcopal congregation begins. 

• Azusa Street Revival, a historic series of revival meetings led by black evangelist 
William Seymour, begins in L.A. 

• African American minister and evangelist Charles H. Mason attends the Azusa Street 
Revival in Los Angeles and is believed to have spoken in tongues. Upon his return to 
Tennessee, he began teaching the Pentecostal Holiness message. 

  
1907 

• Charles H. Mason founded the Church of God in Christ (COGIC) in Memphis, 
Tennessee. 

  
1913 

• Construction completed of subject building for the West Adams Methodist Episcopal 
congregation. 

  
1914 

• Bishop Mason sends Overseer Eddie Robert Driver and his wife Mother Annie Driver to 
Los Angeles to begin its ministry in Los Angeles. Los Angeles becomes the headquarters 
of the Church of God in Christ’s Southern California First Jurisdiction, also referred to as 
the “Jerusalem” of the Pentecostal Movement. 

  
1916 

• Saints Home Church of God in Christ at 1460 East 20th Street is organized by Overseer 
Driver. The church is the first COGIC in the State of California and West Coast. During 
Overseer Driver’s first ten years of leadership, over 35 churches were organized across 
California. 

   
1927 

• COGIC founder Bishop Mason appoints Elder L.C. Page to lead a new group of 
evangelists within the COGIC in St. Louis, Missouri. 

   
1931 

• Bishop Samuel Martin Crouch Sr. appointed Overseer of California. The Southern 
California First Jurisdiction experienced tremendous growth during his tenure. He was 
known for building the Department of Home and Foreign Missions and for organizing 
districts that were headed by superintendents, district missionaries, and co-workers. 

  
1933 

• Elder Page asked to organize and supervise a National Evangelist Board and soon 
organizes meetings across the country. 

  



1937 
• The first meeting of COGIC’s National Evangelist Board takes place in Memphis, 

Tennessee. 
  
1943 

• Bishop L.C. Page and wife Thelma travel to Los Angeles to lead a successful revival for 
Reverend W.L. McKinney at 21st Street Temple. The Pages decide to stay in Los Angeles 
and they establish Page Evangelist Temple soon after with a church membership of 33 
people. They purchase a building at 337 E. Jefferson Boulevard. 

  
1950 

• Bishop Page’s congregation outgrows their building and they move to a larger building at 
605 E. 8th Street. Bishop Page Evangelist Speaks, new COGIC monthly publication the 
1950s, Bishop Page ran tent revivals throughout First Jurisdiction. During the 1950s, 
Sunday prayer services of Page Evangelist Temple were broadcast weekly over the radio. 
Church membership is estimated at 1000. 

  
1952 

• Mt. Sinai Missionary Baptist Church purchases the building from West Adams Methodist 
Episcopal Church. 

  
1954 

• Page Temple merges with Antioch Church of God in Christ at 1545 W. 35th Place. 
• Annual Negro History Week program features historical survey of Black music held at 

Mt. Sinai. Church hosts Negro History Week planning meetings in subsequent years. 
  
1955 

• Bishop Page returns to Los Angeles from worldwide Pentecostal convention in Sweden, 
which included stops in London, Paris, Jerusalem and Cairo 

  
1956 

• Five Elder members of Page Temple have started new COGIC churches of their own. 
  
1960 

• NAACP Los Angeles Chapter enrolls 500 people to its membership rolls at a 
membership drive held at Mt. Sinai. 

• Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. visits Mt. Sinai, one of three stops in L.A. organized by the 
Baptist Ministers Union and the Interdenominational Ministers Alliance. His address to 
the attendees is titled “Going Forward by Going Backward,” calling upon U.S. leaders to 
save the soul of America by returning to the principles of brotherhood and freedom of 
which the county was founded. 

  
1963 

• National and International Evangelist Convention of COGIC held in Los Angeles with 
Bishop Page, National President, presiding. Bishop Page purchases the subject building 
later this year. 

  
1964 

• Greater Page Temple COGIC moves to subject building where it remains. Los Angeles 
Sentinel’s Church Directory lists 16 COGIC churches in Los Angeles. 



 
1968 

● 40th annual International Evangelists Convention of the Church of God in Christ held at 
subject building. 

 
1969 

● State Workers Meeting of the Central California Jurisdiction of the Church of God in 
Christ held at subject building. 

  
1972 

• COGIC’s Board of Evangelism became an official Department of Evangelism and 
appoints Bishop L.C. Page its first National President.  

  
1980 

• Bishop L.C. Page passes away on October 29, 1980.  
• Lucius Page Jr. appointed pastor of the Greater Page Temple COGIC and serves until 

2000. 
 

2000 
• Pastor Theodis Johnson appointed pastor of Greater Page Temple COGIC and serves 

until 2016. 
 
2016  

• Pastor Dr. David E. Harris appointed pastor of Greater Page Temple COGIC 
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CONTEXT: GOVERNMENT AND PRIVATE INSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

Theme: Religion and Spirituality, 1894-1912 

Associated Property Types: Churches 

Areas of Significance: Event (A/1/1) 

Period of Significance: 1894-1912 

The founding of traditional religious institutions and new spiritual movements coincided 
with the growth of Los Angeles.  Around the turn of the century, 231 Christian churches with 
approximately 80,000 members were established.  Protestant and evangelist sects maintained the 
strongest presence in the city.  Most early religious institutions were located downtown, and 
subsequently followed their congregants as they set up residence in emerging pockets of the 
city.31  

The West Adams Methodist Episcopal Church (now the Greater Page Temple Church of 
God in Christ) was constructed in the Normandie 5 survey area at the corner of La Salle and 
Adams in 1912-1913.  The three-story church was designed by renowned Los Angeles architect 
John C. Austin in the Gothic Revival style.  (For a brief discussion of Austin’s career, see 
associated Architects and Builders theme.)  It served the neighborhood’s mostly white residents 
until after WWII, when the population shifted to form a predominantly Africa American 
community.  (See Ethnic/Cultural and Gender Diversity theme for additional information on the 
church.)  

Eligibility Standards 

A property is eligible within this context under Criterion Event (A/1/1) if it: 

• Demonstrates an association with religious uses 
• Was constructed within the period of significance 
• Retains character defining features of its original architectural style 
• Retains aspects of integrity that are necessary to convey its significance 

Character-Defining Features 

• Not applicable for this theme, since building types and styles will vary greatly 

                                                 
31  PCR Services Corporation.  “Draft Intensive Historic Resources Survey of the Wilshire Center and Koreatown 

Recovery Redevelopment Area.” May 2009, p. 89.  



VI.  Historical Context Statement 

Community Redevelopment Agency Normandie 5 
PCR Services Corporation                                                                                             October 2011 
 

Page 36 

PRELIMINARY WORKING DRAFT – Work in Progress 

Integrity Aspects 

Required aspects of integrity include: 

• Location 
• Design 
• Workmanship 
• Feeling 

Integrity Considerations 

• Setting (surrounding buildings and land uses may have changed) 
• Materials (some original materials may have been altered or removed) 
• Association (original use may have changed) 

Applicable CHR Status Codes 

NRHP (3S): To be eligible for the NRHP under Criterion A, the property: 

• Demonstrates an association with significant religious uses 
• Retains all aspects of integrity, unless they are not essential in conveying the 

significance 
• Warrants a CHR Status code of 3S 

CRHR (3CS): To be eligible for the CRHR under Criterion 1, the property: 

• Demonstrates an association with significant religious uses 
• Retains required aspects of integrity 
• Warrants a CHR status code of 3CS 

LA (5S2): To be eligible under a local designation, the property:  

• Demonstrates an association with significant religious uses 
• Retains required aspects of integrity 
• Warrants a CHR status code of 5S2 
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PRELIMINARY WORKING DRAFT – Work in Progress 

CONTEXT: RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT, 1946-1960 

Theme: Ethnic/Cultural and Gender Diversity 

Associated Property Type: Religious Buildings Associated with African 
American Culture 

Areas of Significance: Event (A/1/1) 
Period of Significance: 1946-1960 

Beginning in the post-WWII period, the survey area began to diversify.  White residents 
began moving away from the city center as African American families moved in.  Reflecting 
nationwide trends, similar population transitions were occurring in many south Los Angeles 
neighborhoods.  The number African American residents in the survey area continued to increase 
through the second half of the 20th century. 

With the influx of new residents came new businesses and institutions to service the 
black community.  As author Doug Flamming wrote, “The three most potent of these institutions 
were race papers, black churches and black businesses.”  The businesses included stores of all 
kinds, medical and dental offices, funeral homes, and financial institutions.  The enterprises 
attracted customers and congregants, stimulating the kind of street life that creates successful 
neighborhood-based community. People came to shop, worship, debate, organize, and socialize.  
Significantly, these institutions played a key role in fostering a sense of racial pride and identity.  
They also demonstrated the importance of the black middle class, who ran these establishments 
and served as community leaders.  In many respects, these manifestations of black community 
life reflected the outlooks and accomplishments of the black middle class.32 

There are two extant resources in the Normandie 5 Survey Area which represent the 
businesses and institutions about which Doug Flamming wrote: the Greater Page Temple Church 
of God in Christ and the Golden State Mutual Building.   

The Greater Page Temple Church of God in Christ is an extant religious building which 
is historically connected to the survey area’s African American population after WWII.  Located 
at 2610 LaSalle Avenue, the two-story church was built in 1914 in the Gothic Revival style.  It 
was designed by renowned Los Angeles architect John C. Austin and originally known as the 
West Adams Methodist Episcopal Church. (For a brief discussion of Austin’s career, see 
associated Architects and Builders theme.)  At its inception, the church served the mostly white 
population in the survey area, as discussed previously.  As the black population increased after 

                                                 
32  Grimes, Teresa, et al., "Historic Resources Associated with African Americans in Los Angeles," Multiple 

Property Documentation Form, National Register of Historic Places, 2009. 
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WWII, the church transformed into the Mount Sinai Missionary Baptist Church and catered to 
the new African American residents.  Sometime after 1954, it became the Greater Page Temple 
Church of God in Christ, according to Sanborn maps.  Both Missionary Baptist Churches and 
Churches of God in Christ are historically associated with African Americans. 

Associated Property Type: Commercial Buildings Associated with African 
American Culture 

Areas of Significance: Event (A/1/1) 
Period of Significance: 1946-1960 

The Golden State Mutual Building, located at the intersection of Adams Boulevard and 
Western Avenue, is an extant commercial building historically associated with the survey area’s 

African American population.   

It was designed in 1948 by acclaimed African 
American architect Paul R. Williams.  The six-story 
building incorporates a mix of modern architectural 
styles, including Late Moderne and Mid-century 
Modern. (For a brief discussion of Williams’s career, 
see associated architecture context.)   

The aptly-named Golden State Mutual Building 
housed the Golden State Mutual Life Insurance 
Company.  The company began in the early 1920s, 

when William Nickerson, Norman Houston and George Beavers, Jr., partnered to operate a 
California branch of the American Mutual Benefit Association, a black fraternal group based in 
Texas that sold insurance policies.  The men struck out on their own with the intention of 
growing the company into a full-line black owned insurance company.  Their goals were to hire 
black workers and to grant home and business loans.  Golden State received its state license in 
1925.  Its first office space was a one-room office at located 1435 Central Avenue.  The venture 
was so successful that in 1928, it constructed a grand headquarters building at 4111 Central 
Avenue.  By 1930, just five years after its founding, the company was making $240,000 
annually, employing 130 blacks in white-collar positions, and granting mortgage loans to black 
home and business owners.  It continued to grow during the Depression to become the largest 
black-owned company in the West.33 

                                                 
33  Grimes, Teresa, et al., "Historic Resources Associated with African Americans in Los Angeles," Multiple 

Property Documentation Form, National Register of Historic Places, 2009. 
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The Golden State building at the corner of Adams and Western serves as an important 
physical reminder of Golden State’s success and a representation of its prominence within the 
black community of Los Angeles in the mid- century. 

Eligibility Standards 

Few examples from this theme are extant in the survey area.  An individual building is 
eligible within this theme under Criterion Event (A/1/1) if it: 

• Was/Is the home of important black-owned businesses, professionals or institutions 
• Was/Is located adjacent to established residential African American neighborhoods 

Dates from the period of significance 
• Was/Is historically used in a significant manner by the African American community 
• Was constructed during the period of significance 
• Buildings eligible under this criterion need not have been constructed by African 

Americans; however, buildings constructed by African Americans are more important 
than those that were not. 

Character-defining Features 

• Not applicable for this theme, since building types and styles will vary greatly 

Integrity Aspects 

• Not applicable for this theme, since building types and styles will vary greatly 
• Location (historic location) 
• Design (majority of character-defining features intact) 
• Materials (some original materials may have been altered or removed; storefronts 

may have been changed.) 
• Workmanship (evidence of skilled workmanship should be present) 
• Feeling (middle- to upper-class single family residence from around the turn of the 

century) 

Integrity Considerations 

• Setting (surrounding buildings and land uses may have changed) 
• Association (original use may have changed) 
• Replacement of original wood framed windows with aluminum or vinyl frames but 

within original openings 
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• New exterior surface if the original is underneath 
• Alteration of storefronts 
• ADA alterations to commercial and religious properties 

Applicable CHR Status Codes 

NRHP (3S): To be eligible for the NRHP under Criterion A, the property: 

• Was/Is strongly, significantly associated with the commercial, professional and/or 
cultural development of the African American community 

• Retains all aspects of integrity, unless they are not essential in conveying the 
significance 

• Warrants a CHR Status code of 3S 

CRHR (3CS): To be eligible for the CRHR under Criterion 1, the property: 

• Was/Is strongly, significantly associated with the commercial, professional and/or 
cultural development of the African American community 

• Retains required aspects of integrity 
• Warrants a CHR status code of 3CS 

LA (5S2): To be eligible under a local designation, the property: 

• Was/Is strongly, significantly associated with the commercial, professional and/or 
cultural development of the African American community 

• Retains required aspects of integrity 
• Warrants a CHR status code of 5S2 

CONTEXT: ARCHITECTURE, ENGINEERING AND DESIGNED LANDSCAPES, 
1912-1913 

Theme: Architects and Builders 

Associated Property Types: Various, depending on architect’s body of work 
Areas of Significance: Event (C/3/3) 

Period of Significance: 1912-1913 































































































Main (west) facade and entrance facing southeast, 2022. 
Photo by Lindsay Mulcahy/L.A. Conservancy.

Main (west) facade and tower facing northeast, 2022. 
Photo by Lindsay Mulcahy/L.A. Conservancy.



/outh elevation facing north, 2022. 
Photo by Andrea MauX.

�ast elevation facing northwest, 2022. 
Photo by Andrea MauX.



Cornerstone, facing southeast, 2022. 
Photo by Lindsay Mulcahy/L.A. Conservancy.

0iZe cadsule, facing east, 2022. Photo by Lindsay 
Mulcahy/L.A. Conservancy.



Main sanctuary and tracery window, facing north, 2022.
Photos by M. .osalind /agara/L.A. Conservancy.



Main sanctuary and barrel�vaulted ceiling, facing north, 2022.
Photos by Lindsay Mulcahy/L.A. Conservancy.



�ellowshid hall secondary entrance, facing south. 
Photo by Lindsay Mulcahy/L.A. Conservancy.

/econd story classrooZ.
Photo by Lindsay Mulcahy/L.A. Conservancy.



�ellowshid hall, first and second level, 2022.
Photo by Lindsay Mulcahy/L.A. Conservancy.



Main staircase to second floor, 2022.
Photo by Lindsay Mulcahy/L.A. Conservancy.



/econdary entrance to Zain sanctuary, view east, 2022.
Photo by Lindsay Mulcahy/L.A. Conservancy.

�ntrance off of Zain sanctuary, view west, 2022.
Photo by Lindsay Mulcahy/L.A. Conservancy.



�all of ZeZories.
Photos by Lindsay Mulcahy/L.A. Conservancy.



�etail of /anborn Zad showing subWect building, ÂÊ0È (6ol. Ç, /heet Ç2Ê).  
/ource� Library of Congress and Los Angeles Public Library.

Â
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Left� �etail of /anborn Zad showing erdanded subWect building, ÂÊ22 (6ol. 
Ç, /heet Ç02). /ource� Library of Congress and Los Angeles Public Library.

.ight� /ubWect building, �uly ÂÊ22. /ource� 1niversity of /outhern California 
and California �istorical /ociety, httds�//doi.org/Â0.2ÆÆÅÊ/chs�ZÊ2Ê



Ä

Left� /anborn Zad showing subWect building, ÂÊÆÅ. /ource�  
Library of Congress and Los Angeles Public Library.

Right:: Reverend H.B. Charles (center) with youth 
pastors Charlie B. Greene (left) and Frederick K.C. 
Price (right) in front of subject building, n.d. Source: 
H.B. Charles Jr. Facebook page.



/ubWect building on La /alle and AdaZs, Los Angeles, ÂÊÇÄ. /ource� Charles 7illiaZs, California /tate 1niversity, "orthridge, �0oZ and �thel �radley Center 
Photogradhs,� httds�//digital�collections.csun.edu/digital/collection/�radley/id/ÊÄ0É Å



(L)� /deaXer at dodiuZ at the Mt. /inai �adtist Church event hosted by Â0th Council recall Zeeting, ÂÊÇÂ. Photo by Charles 7illiaZs. /ource� California /tate 1niversity, 
"orthridge, httds�//digital�collections.csun.edu/digital/collection/�radley/id/Â0ÉÈÊ. (.)� Attendees seated at the Â0th Council .ecall Zeeting at Mt. /inai �adtist Church, ÂÊÇÂ. 
/ource� California /tate 1niversity, "orthridge, �0oZ and �thel �radley Center Photogradhs,� httds�//digital�collections.csun.edu/digital/collection/�radley/id/Â0ÈÇÂ.

Æ



�reater Page 0eZdle �edication PrograZ, ÂÊÇÅ. /ource� �reater Page 0eZdle archives. Ç



�vent at �reater Page 0eZdle�s �ellowshid �all, n.d., /ource� �reater Page 0eZdle archives. È



Left� From Tent to Temple, 50th Anniversary Celebration Booklet. ÂÊÊÄ. �reater Page 0eZdle archives. .ight� �nstallation of �ishod L.C. Page as the head of the 
Church of �od in Christ�s �edartZent of �vangelisZ, ÂÊÈÈ. /ource� C$��C �edartZent of �vangelisZ �acebooX dage.



�ishod L.C. Page�s first assignZent as dastor was at ÂÉ years of 
age. /ource� �acebooX 0he C$��C �istory Page 
httds�//www.facebooX.coZ/grouds/Å0ÈÂÆÈÈÇÊÉ2ÆÇÉÈ/search
/�fÞbishodÚ20dageÚ2CÚ20ÂÉÚ20years.

�ishod L.C. Page was recognived for his Zany years of 
dedicated service leading the �nternational �vangelist 
�edt. /ource� �reater Page 0eZdle archives.

Â0



�arry Langdon stands outside the church entrance on La/alle Avenue,  ca 
ÂÊ2Æ for a scene of the MacX /ennett short coZedy,  His Marriage Wow. 
httds�//www.silentlocations.coZ

ÂÂ

A darade of brides shows ud at the church to Zarry �uster �eaton�s 
character in the ÂÊ2Æ filZ, Seven Chances.
httds�//www.silentlocations.coZ/20ÂÇ/Â2/ÂÆ/buster�Xeaton�Þseven�cha
nces�and�warren�beatty/



0od left� �n the filZ, Bulworth, (ÂÊÊÉ) 7arren �eatty dlays a California senator who chastises an African AZerican congregation, asXing theZ to realive that 
neither dolitical darty serves their coZZunity. /ource� httds�//www.silentlocations.coZ/20ÂÇ/Â2/ÂÆ/buster�Xeaton�Þseven�chances�and�warren�beatty/ . 
0od right� AZavon $riginals droduction, Bosch, Chadter É � ��igh�Low� (20ÂÆ) � �rving Zeets .everend $tt.
/ource�httd�//Z.iZbd.coZ/title/ttÅÂÈÈ2ÈÉ/locations� 
�ottoZ two iZages froZ Zusic video droduction of the song, �7hen 7ords Are �ew,� (20ÂÈ) froZ the albuZ, Bible of Love, 
derforZed by /nood �ogg and � /lade (forZerly 0oner). 0he albuZ was the ��0 �est �osdel AlbuZ of 20ÂÊ, 
/ources� httds�//thegrio.coZ/20ÂÉ/02/0Ä/snood�dogg�release�gosdel�albuZ�bible�love/aZd/� httds�//Z.iZbd.coZ/title/ttÂ00Ê0Ç0Ç/ Â2














